RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCON 92-03-2015

DISTRICT NO. IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Court of Appeals Case No. Circuit Court Case No. 2014AP2881 2014CM001052

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LAVARREN D. ETIENNE, Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JOHN W. MARKSON PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BERNARDO CUETO State Bar I.D. No. 1076013

WISLawyer LLC 700 3rd Street North, Suite LL5 La Crosse, WI 54601 608.797.8123

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT BEYOND A RESONABLE DOUBT?

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: YES

2. WAS THE FINDING OF GUILT BY THE JURY A VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS?

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant submits that the legal issues are clearly set forth in the Briefs, and the factual situation is properly reflected in the Statements of Fact and Briefs. Therefore, oral argument is not necessary. Given the few opinions available on this issue, publication may be warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Etienne tried both 14-CM-937 and 14-CM-1052 at the same time. 14-CM-937 relates to allegations that Etienne committed three misdemeanor counts on April 28, 2014. Count 1: Intimidate Victim/Dissuade Complaints contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.44(2), Count 2: Battery contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1), and Count 3: Resisting or Obstructing an Officer contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1). 14-CM-1052 relates to Etienne being accused of violating the no-contact bond condition while on a misdemeanor bond under 14-CM-937 contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(a). He was acquitted of all counts in 14-CM-937 at trial and was found guilty of one count of bailjumping under 14-CM-1052, which is the subject of this appeal.

Most of the trial was dedicated to the three counts found in 14-CM-937, which Etienne was acquitted of. P.J., the alleged victim, during her entire testimony stated that Etienne was not at fault for anything. It seemed that neither side really asked her about the bailjumping allegation against Etienne. During the trial, P.J. was asked about speaking to an officer on April 29, 2014, the day after the allegations in 14-CM-937 occurred:

"Q: Do you remember talking to the officer about something called a no contact provision on the 29th?

A: Yes.

Q: And do you remember signing something saying that you wanted to continue to have contact with Mr. Etienne?

A: Yes.

Q: And did you sign that because Mr. Etienne forced you to sign that?

A: No.

Q: It was your genuine wish to continue to have contact with Mr. Etienne?

A: Yes.

Q: So you weren't scared of him on the 29th?

A: No.

Q: So you made a voluntary choice to continue associating with him, right?

A: Yes.

Q: And you did that because you're in a relationship with him?

A: Right.

Q: And you have feelings about him?

A: Yes.

Q: And you want to stay close to him?

A: Yes." (R53: 67-68).

None of P.J.'s testimony actually related to the facts on May 21, 2014. This no-contact was not the no-contact that Etienne was accused of violating.

The clerk Wayne Pfister informed the jury that Etienne signed the bond with the condition that he not have any contact with P.J. directly or indirectly. (R53:119-20).

On May 21, 2014 Michael Alvarez was dispatched to the scene from a 911 call alleging that there was a female kicking a car and she was creating a disturbance fighting with a man. (R53:128). When he came to the scene he saw a woman leaning up against the car, and a male was inside the car. (R53:124). He pulled up to contact them and as he did, the male got out of the car and began to approach him. (R53:124). Etienne said that perhaps the disturbance reported in the 911 call was a phone call that the woman was on (R53:124). Etienne gave his name to the officer. (R53:124). The officer asked him if he was on probation and parole and Etienne responded that he was not. (R53:125). Then the

officer asked him if he was on bond and whether he was violating any conditions of bond. (R53:125). Etienne stated that he was on bond and that he was not violating any conditions. (R53:125).

Officer Alvarez followed-up with Etienne who stated that he did not have contact with her, but that she had contacted him. (R53:126). They had both been visiting family on that street. (R53:126). Officer Alvarez noted that as far as he understood, this was merely a chance encounter. (R53:128). Etienne had told Officer Alvarez that there had been no disturbance. (R53:127). P. J. was interviewed by Officer Alvarez and she stated that there was no disturbance. (R53:127). P. J. admitted that she may have yelled Etienne's name. (R53:128). Officer Alvarez noted that Etienne was cooperative. (R53:129).

Etienne testified on his own behalf and stated that on May 21, 2014 he was at his sister's house. (R53:149). He was sitting in the car and P. J. came around and she was upset because he had followed the no-contact bond condition, "She really got really irritated with why are you not returning my phone calls." (R53:149-150). After she had advanced to him, Etienne told

her "that we not supposed to have contact with each other." (R53:150) He described to her that he could not even go near her house because of his electronic monitoring device. (R53:150).

The problem, as Etienne recounted, is that his sister, the person whose house he was visiting on May 21, 2014, lived right around the corner from P. J. and he was worried that at any given time P. J. may try to have contact with him. (R53:150-1). When he tried to explain the problem to bail monitoring, "They told me that, hey, that's on me...." (R53:151).

As he had predicted before, P. J. did indeed try to have contact with him. After he told her what the court had ordered, he tried to walk away from her, but she wouldn't let him. (R53:151). "She was furious, because I was not talking to her, I wasn't returning her phone calls, and just not having contact with her at all." (R53:151). Etienne told P. J. about the bond condition, but not only did she not let him walk away, but "she said she doesn't care." (R53:151). She told him that since she confessed to the officers that she had previously lied about what happened on April 28, 2014, therefore he would not be going to jail. (R53:151). She refused to believe

that he was on monitoring, that there was a no-contact, and that he was going to jail if they had contact with one another. (R53:151-152).

Etienne described the conscious effort that he made to avoid contact with P. J. stating, "She just would not leave me alone at the time. She just kept coming around. Everywhere I was going she would pop up, and I would try to be in different areas different times. And, you know, she knows where my sister stays. Her and my sister have a good relationship. So my sister said I am not going to tell her she can't come over here, you know, because me and her are going good times and, you know, was just creating a big problem for me." (R53:153).

This harassment caused Etienne to want to go back to jail. (R53:153). This is what caused Etienne to leave the vehicle when the police arrived and approach the officer. (R53:153). "...I just said I am just sick of it, just take me to jail." (R53:153).

On cross-examination, the state asked Etienne about confusion over allegations of other contact with P. J. outside of the May 21, 2014 date and are not relevant as to whether or what was the nature of any contact with P. J. on May 21, 2014. On re-direct Etienne explained why he came up with

the story about P. J. being on the phone and why he did not tell the officer about P. J. being aggressive and kicking his car. (R53:162). He said that he cared for her and did not want her to get into trouble, but wanted to protect her because "she totally lost it at one point in time." (R53:162).

On July 17, 2014, the Court sentenced Etienne to 8 months in jail as to Count 1. (R54). A Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief was filed that same day. (R40). No post-conviction motion was filed with the trial court. Etienne now appeals from his judgment of conviction having filed a Notice of Appeal. (R47)

Having said the above it is appropriate to proceed to argument. Additional facts will be inserted and referenced as necessary in the argument portion of this brief.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT AT TRIAL

Etienne is mindful of an Appellate Court's reluctance to overturn a jury's verdict and accepts the same. But in this case, in the interest of justice, this Honorable Court should put its natural reluctance aside and view the argument made herein on the issue of overturning the jury's verdict.

When sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction is raised on appeal, the law is well settled. Under *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990), the appellate courts cannot "substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the State and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." In this matter, Etienne submits that the jury should not have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt of Misdemeanor Bail Jumping.

The Court instructed the jury that the State had to prove, "The defendant on or about Wednesday, May 21, 2014...did intentionally fail to comply with the terms of his bond to wit: Defendant shall not have any contact, direct or indirect, with [P.J.]...." (R35:9); (R53:24). In order to prove these facts the jury had to find the following three elements occurred on May 21, 2014:

 The defendant was charged with a misdemeanor. A misdemeanor is a crime punishable by imprisonment in the county jail.
Battery is a misdemeanor.

2. The defendant was released from custody on bond.

This requires that after being charged, the defendant was released from custody on bond under the conditions established by a court commissioner. In this case the conditions of Mr. Etienne's bond were that he have no contact, direct or indirect with P.J.

3. The defendant intentionally failed to comply with the terms of the bond. This requires that the defendant knew of the terms of the bond and knew that his actions did not comply with those terms. (R35:9, 10)

The defendant-appellant will concede that the state met the first two elements.

The above facts really outline the issue, could the jury have convicted Etienne based on the fact that he had recounted to P. J. the court's order that he not have any contact with her? The facts are clear that he tried to avoid P.J. He was aware that the chance encounter could occur and had made bail monitoring aware of it, which they disregarded. P.J. did not believe a no-contact order was still in place. He tried to remove himself from the situation after P. J. tried to make contact with him, but she would not let him leave. None of the facts are consistent with intentional, direct or indirect, contact with P. J.

P. J. on the stand stated that she wanted to contact Etienne, that she had recanted her story, and that she wanted the no-contact dropped. (R53:63). It is no wonder that she

believed that Etienne would not get into trouble and probably that the charges had been dismissed when she confronted him on May 21, 2014.

No trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found Etienne guilty beyond a reasonable doubt based on the facts above. Etienne never intentionally had contact with P. J. and the only statements that Etienne told P. J. were merely mentioning the judge's order.

II A FINDING OF GUILT BASED ON THE FACTS WOULD VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS

"The Due Process clause requires that 'Conditions of supervised release . . . give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he may act accordingly."" *United States v. Balon*, 384 F.3d 38, 43 (2d Cir. 2004) (quoting *United States v. Simmons*, 343 F.3d 72, 81 (2d Cir. 2003)). The Supreme Court has also written-in exceptions to no-contact provisions where it is necessary under the Due Process Clause. In Arciniega v. Freeman, 404 U.S. 4, 5 (1971) (per curiam), the Supreme Court was asked to look at a case where the defendant was ordered, as a condition of his parole, not to have contacts with ex-convicts. The Supreme Court held that it was a violation of Due Process to punish a defendant for incidental and unavoidable contacts in violation of a nocontact. See Alonzo v. Rozanski, 808 F.2d 637, 639 (7th Cir. 1986) (The deprivation of "liberty" in Arciniega was covered by the due process clause).

The *Arciniega* case applies to our situation because the evidence above is that Etienne was constantly approached by the victim and had to tell her that he could not have contact with her because she would not leave him alone. This was the type of incidental and unavoidable contact that the Supreme Court in *Arciniega* held would violate the Due Process. Etienne sought to avoid both direct and indirect contact with P. J. There is no fact in evidence that P. J. was aware that there even was a current no-contact in place when she approached Etienne. Etienne had to inform her of it or at least remind her of that fact. Repeating the judge's no-contact order in an unavoidable situation should not cause someone to be in violation of that same order.

The same conclusion was reached in *United States v. Loy*, where the court held that a no-contact with minors must include the exception for unavoidable and casual encounters. "Certainly accidental or unavoidable contact with minors in public places is not forbidden by the condition; however, should Loy deliberately seek out such contacts, they would cease to be 'casual' or 'unavoidable' and would fall within the condition's scope." *United States v. Loy*, 237 F.3d 251, 268-69 (3rd Cir. 2001). The 7th Circuit has cited approvingly the *Loy* case, but without speaking directly to this issue. *See United States v. Benhoff*, 755 F.3d 504, 506 (7th Cir. Ill. 2014); *United States v. Shannon*, 743 F.3d 496, 501 (7th Cir. Wis. 2014); *United States v. Adkins*, 743 F.3d 176, 194 (7th Cir. Ind. 2014).

The 5th, 10th, and D.C. Circuits have also held that no-contacts do not include accidental or unavoidable contacts. *United States v. Mike*, 632 F.3d 686, 697 (10th Cir. N.M. 2011); *United States v. Paul*, 274 F.3d 155, 166 (5th Cir. Tex. 2001); *United States v. Burroughs*, 613 F.3d 233, 246, 392 U.S. App. D.C. 68, 81 (D.C. Cir. 2010).

A finding that unavoidable and accidental contacts do not violate a no-contact would also be in the spirit and purpose of the crime of bailjumping. The plain purpose of a bail jumping law is to deter those who have been released pending disposition of criminal charges from violating the conditions of their bonds. *State v. Nelson*, 146 Wis. 2d 442, 451-452, 432 N.W.2d 115, 119 (Wis. Ct. App. 1988). Because the offense "diminishes the power of a court to control those properly within its jurisdiction and afflicts the court with . . . detrimental effects," it is itself made a crime. *United States v. Roche*, 611 F.2d 1180, 1183 (6th Cir. 1980). It would seem that Etienne is actually trying to uphold the court's order and elevate rather than diminish the court's power by informing P. J. of the order's existence. To hold otherwise would be a violation of Etienne's Due Process right and against the spirit of why there even is such a crime as bailjumping.

CONCLUSION

For all the reasons stated herein and the arguments set forth in support thereof, Defendant-Appellant Lavarren Etienne respectfully asks that this Honorable Court vacate the conviction, or in the alternative, order a new trial, or grant such relief as the Court deems appropriate.