RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-02-2015**COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014AP2881-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

LAVARREN D ETIENNE,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH #1, THE HONORABLE JOHN W. MARKSON, PRESIDING

Diane L. Schlipper
Assistant District Attorney
Dane County, Wisconsin
Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent
State Bar No. 1074150

Patrick D. Bomhack Special Prosecutor Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1087305

215 South Hamilton Street
Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000
Madison, WI 53703

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT FOR A RATIONAL

 JURY TO FIND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT ETIENNE

 INTENTIONALLY FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE CONDITION OF

 HIS BOND THAT HE NOT HAVE ANY CONTACT WITH PEGGY

 JONES.
- II. WHETHER ETIENNE'S CONVICTION VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO DUE

 PROCESS INSOFAR AS AN INDIVIDUAL CANNOT BE PUNISHED

 FOR VIOLATING A NO-CONTACT CONDITION IF THE ENCOUNTER

 WAS UNAVOIDABLE OR ACCIDENTAL.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The state does not request oral argument. The briefs of the parties should adequately address the legal and factual issues presented.

The State does not request publication. The first issue presented is governed by Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)2, which provides that publication is not warranted when "[t]he issue asserted is whether the evidence is sufficient to support the judgment and the briefs show the evidence is sufficient." The second issue presented is governed by Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)1, which provides that publication is not warranted when "[t]he issues involve no more than the application of well-settled rules of law to a recurring fact situation."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural Status of the Case

On July 10, 2014, after a jury trial, defendantappellant Lavarren D. Etienne was convicted of misdemeanor
bail jumping. (R41:1). On July 17, 2014, the Honorable

John W. Markson, Circuit Court, Dane County, entered a
judgment of conviction and sentenced Etienne to a jail term
of eight months. <u>Id</u>. On December 11, 2014, Etienne filed
an appeal of his judgment of conviction.¹ (R47:1).

Statement of Facts

On May 13, 2014, Etienne was charged with one count of battery, one count of resisting or obstructing an officer, and one count of intimidating a victim. He was released on bail with a condition that he not have any contact, direct or indirect, with Peggy A. Jones. (R:34:1 at Ex. 5). On May 21, 2014, Etienne was arrested for having contact with Jones. (R2:1-2). On May 22, 2014, Etienne was formally charged with one count of misdemeanor bail jumping. Id.

As stated above, the misdemeanor bail jumping charge arose from events occurring on May 21, 2014. Id. On that

¹ Neither of the two issues presented on appeal were raised by Etienne at the trial level.

date, in the afternoon, City of Madison Police Officer Mike Alvarez was dispatched to Turbot Drive in Madison, WI, in reference to a physical domestic incident involving two individuals fighting inside a car. (R53:123). The car where the incident was occurring belonged to Jones. (R53:128).

When Officer Alvarez approached, he saw Jones standing by the rear of the car and Etienne sitting inside the car. (R53:124). Etienne then stepped out of Jones' car and approached Officer Alvarez. (R53:124). Etienne told Officer Alvarez there was no disturbance. (R53:124). Jones had been talking loudly on the phone, and Etienne explained to Officer Alvarez that this may have been the reason for the report of a disturbance. (R53:124).

Officer Alvarez observed that Etienne appeared to think he was going to jail, (R53:125), so he asked Etienne if he had any open cases or was in violation of any rules.

Id. Etienne answered no to these questions. Id. Officer Alvarez then asked Etienne if he would be willing to sit in the rear of the police car. (R53:125). Etienne stated that he was willing to do so and was placed in the police car. (R53:125).

Officer Alvarez then spoke to Jones. Officer Alvarez explained that he was responding to a report of a disturbance, with a woman kicking the car door. (R53:127-8). Jones told Officer Alvarez that that it wouldn't make any sense for her to kick the car door because it was her car, and she would not kick her own door. (R53:128).

Officer Alvarez returned to the police squad. Etienne told Officer Alvarez that he thought he would be going to jail. (R53:125). Officer Alvarez then ran Etienne's information through the Circuit Court records and learned that Etienne had an open case with bail conditions that he was not to have any contact with Jones. (R53:125-26). Etienne told Officer Alvarez that he knew he was prohibited from having any contact with Jones. (R53:126).

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT FOR A RATIONAL JURY TO FIND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT ETIENNE INTENTIONALLY FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE CONDITION OF HIS BOND THAT HE NOT HAVE ANY CONTACT WITH JONES.

Etienne contends the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law for the jury to find him guilty of misdemeanor bail jumping. His argument is that on May 21, 2014, he tried to avoid contact with Jones but she would not leave him alone. However, Etienne's argument is defeated by the law and facts of the case.

A. The standard for review of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to convict.

The standard for review of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to convict was discussed in State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990):

[I]n reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced

at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it.

Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507 (citation omitted).

The maintenance of this standard for review is vitally important. An appellate court does not sit as a jury making findings of fact and applying the hypothesis of innocence rule de novo to the evidence presented at trial.

Id., 505-06. "It is not the role of an appellate court to do that." Id., 506. Indeed, an appellate court "will only substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact when the fact finder relied upon evidence that was inherently or patently incredible—that kind of evidence which conflicts with the laws of nature or with fully-established or conceded facts. State v. Tarantino, 157 Wis. 2d 199, 218, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990).

Additionally, the trier of fact is the sole arbiter of the credibility of witnesses and alone is charged with the duty of weighing the evidence. State v. Hahn, 221 Wis. 2d 670, 683, 586 N.W.2d 5 (Ct. App. 1998). When more than one inference can reasonably be drawn from the evidence, the inference which supports the trier of fact's verdict must be the one followed on review unless the evidence is

incredible as a matter of law. State v. Allbaugh, 148 Wis. 2d 807, 809, 436 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1989). It is exclusively within the trier of fact's province to decide which evidence is worthy of belief, which is not, and to resolve any conflicts in the evidence. State v. Wyss, 124 Wis. 2d 681, 693, 370 N.W.2d 745 (1985). The standard for review is the same whether the verdict is based on direct or circumstantial evidence. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 497.

B. The elements of misdemeanor bail jumping.

Misdemeanor bail jumping is committed by any person who, having been arrested for (or charged with) a misdemeanor and released from custody on bond, intentionally fails to comply with the terms of that bond. Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1). There are three elements to this offense: (1) the defendant was arrested for (or charged with) a misdemeanor; (2) the defendant was released from custody on bond; and (3) the defendant intentionally failed to comply with the terms of the bond. Wis. JI-Criminal 1795.

A person intentionally failed to comply with the terms of the bond if the person "knew the terms of the bond and

knew that (his) (her) actions did not comply with those terms." Id. The trier of fact "cannot look into a person's mind to find intent or knowledge." Id. Rather, "[i]ntent and knowledge must be found, if found at all, from the defendant's acts, words, and statements." Id. The term "intentionally" means that the actor either has a purpose to do the thing or cause the result specified, or is aware that his conduct is practically certain to cause that result. Wis. Stat. § 939.23.

C. A rational jury could and did find Etienne guilty of misdemeanor bail jumping beyond a reasonable doubt.

When it is viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, the evidence is sufficient to show that on May 21, 2014, Etienne intentionally failed to comply with the condition of his bond that he have no contact with Jones. The jury's guilty verdict was a reasonable outcome.

Indeed, based upon the evidence, it was patently clear that Etienne violated the no-contact condition.

Etienne does not contend that the state failed to prove the first two elements of misdemeanor bail jumping.

He concedes that the state proved beyond a reasonable doubt that (1) he was arrested for a misdemeanor and (2) he was

released from custody on bond. What Etienne argues is that no reasonable jury could have concluded that he intentionally failed to comply with the condition of his bond that he not have any contact with Jones.

The law and facts of the case, however, show that a reasonable jury could conclude that Etienne's violation of his bond was intentional. As stated above, a person intentionally failed to comply with the terms of the bond if he knew the terms of the bond and knew that his actions did not comply with those terms. Wis. JI-Criminal 1795. Etienne knew the term of his bond, specifically, that he have no contact with Jones. Etienne testified that on May 21, 2014, when Jones approached him, he told her "we not supposed to have contact with each other." (R53:150). Etienne testified that he told Jones that he was on monitoring, that there was a no-contact, and that he was going to jail if they had contact with one another. (R53:151-52). He described to Jones that he could not even go near her house because of his electronic monitoring device. (R53:150). Etienne further testified that he discussed the no-contact condition with his bail monitoring supervisors. (R53:150-51). Given these facts, the jury

could reasonably conclude that Etienne knew of the nocontact provision.

Etienne also knew his actions did not comply with the no-contact provision. A jury could reasonably reach this conclusion via either or both of the following two reasonable inferences. Firstly, when Officer Alvarez first made contact with Etienne, Etienne appeared to think he was going to jail. (R53:125). Shortly thereafter, Etienne told Officer Alvarez that he believed he was going to jail. (R53:125). A jury could reasonably infer from these facts that Etienne thought he was going to jail because he knew his actions did not comply with his no-contact provision, and he had been caught in the act. Secondly, Etienne lied to Officer Alvarez when Officer Alvarez asked Etienne if he had any open cases or was in violation of any rules. (R53:125). A jury could reasonably infer from this fact that Etienne knew his actions did not comply with his nocontact provision, and hence he lied in a futile attempt to protect himself from being arrested. In sum, Etienne's conduct and statements to Officer Alvarez made it clear that Etienne knew he had been caught in the act.

Additionally, as stated above, an act is intentional where the actor is aware that his conduct is practically

certain to cause the result. Wis. Stat. § 939.23(3). By piecing together several facts, a jury could reasonably conclude that Etienne was aware that his conduct on May 21, 2014, was practically certain to cause him to be in contact The scene where the incident occurred was in front of 2901 Turbot Drive in Madison, WI, 53713, located on the southwest side of the city and down the block from Jones' residence. When Officer Alvarez approached the scene on Turbot Drive, Jones was standing outside of her Etienne was sitting inside of Jones' car. Etienne had apparently remained in Jones' presence long enough for Jones to begin and end a telephone conversation in which she became disruptive. Taken together, these facts could lead a reasonable jury to conclude that Etienne was aware his conduct was practically certain to result in him contacting Jones: Etienne travelled across town, to a location down the block from Jones' residence, became seated inside her car, with Jones in his immediate vicinity, and remained present for a period of time while she was standing outside the car.

Even more incriminating for Etienne, a jury could reasonably conclude that Etienne and Jones had been in the car together fighting. This conclusion is reasonably drawn

from the fact that the police had received a call about two individuals fighting inside a car. When the police arrived, Etienne and Jones were present on the scene, with Etienne sitting inside the car and Jones immediately outside of it.

Etienne and Jones both testified that they were never inside the car together. However, a reasonable jury could disbelieve this version of events. Etienne had reason to lie because it was against his penal interest to say he had been in the car with Jones. Jones had reason to lie because she was in a relationship with Etienne and wanted to protect him from getting in trouble. (R53: 64).

Finally, a reasonable jury could disbelieve Etienne's basic storyline that he tried to avoid Jones on May 21, 2014. Etienne testified that he tried to walk away from Jones but she would not let him. However, this version of events is defeated by two facts. First, Etienne ended up inside of Jones' car. If Etienne sought to avoid Jones, it does not make sense that he was sitting inside her car. Second, Etienne remained in Jones' presence for a sustained period of time, at least long enough for her to complete a phone call. If Etienne sought to avoid Jones, it does not

make sense that he would hang around while she was on the phone.

II. THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION DID NOT VIOLATE HIS RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS

Etienne contends that his conviction violated his right to due process. His argument is that a defendant cannot be punished for violating a no-contact condition where the encounter was accidental or unavoidable, and that his contact with Jones falls under this exception. The law and the facts of the case show, however, that Etienne's contact with Jones does not fall under this exception.

A. Legal principles

In support of his position, Etienne cites Arciniega v. Freeman, 404 U.S. 4 (1971), as well as its progeny in the 3rd, 5th, 10th, and D.C. circuits. In Arciniega, the defendant was placed on parole with a condition that he not associate with any ex-convicts. Arciniega, at 4. The defendant later had his parole revoked for working in the same restaurant as two other ex-convicts. Id. The court held that the defendant's conduct did not violate his non-association condition because the condition not apply to "incidental contacts between ex-convicts in the course of

work on a legitimate job for a common employer." <u>Id</u>. The court reasoned that this exception to the non-association condition was necessary because the hiring decisions of the defendant's employer were beyond his control. <u>Id</u>. To prohibit a parolee from associating with ex-convicts who work for a common employer would, the court stated, "render a parolee vulnerable to imprisonment whenever his employer, willing to hire ex-convicts, hires more than one." Id.

Courts have routinely—and properly—cited <u>Arciniega</u> in support of the proposition that a non-association condition placed upon a parolee does not apply to encounters that are accidental or unavoidable. For instance, in <u>United States v. Loy</u>, 237 F.3d 251 (3rd Cir. 2001), the court reviewed a challenge to a non-association condition prohibiting a parolee from having unsupervised contact with minors.

Relying upon <u>Arciniega</u> and other supporting authority (e.g., <u>Birzon v. King</u>, 469 F.2d 1241 (2d Cir.1972)), the court held that the parolee's condition did not extend to "accidental or unavoidable contact with children, such as might occur in public arenas." Loy, 237 F.3d 251, 254.

The approach taken in <u>Arciniega</u> and <u>Loy</u> is now settled law, and for good reason. <u>Loy</u>, 237 F.3d 251, 269 ("At this point, it is well established that associational conditions

do not extend to casual or chance meetings.") Courts have frequently faced challenges to non-association conditions on the grounds that they are impractical and unworkable. Typically, as in Arciniega and Loy, the non-association condition prohibits contact with a category of persons (e.g., ex-convicts or minors). Courts have struggled with the fact that, where the condition prohibits contact with a category or persons, "a defendant might be viewed as violating his probation condition simply by being in conventional places such as schools, shopping malls, churches, sporting events, or other social events." v. Martin, 171 Ariz. 159, 160, 829 P.2d 349 (Ct. App. Div. 1 1992). The judicial response to such concerns has generally been to recognize an exception to the nonassociational condition for contact that is incidental. For instance, in United States v. Paul, 274 F.3d 155 (5th Cir. Tex. 2001), the defendant challenged a condition prohibiting contact with minors. The defendant argued that the condition would prohibit him from visiting "a restaurant [or] any retail establishment such as a grocery store or a department store" due to the possibility that he might come into contact with minors. Paul, 274 F.3d 155, 165. The court rejected the defendant's claim,

interpreting the associational condition to include an exception for such chance encounters in public places. Paul, 274 F.3d 155, 166.

B. Etienne's contact with Jones does not fall under the scope of the exception

The present case does not fall under the scope of Arciniega rule. First and foremost, Etienne's contact with Jones was not unavoidable or accidental. Etienne could have avoided contact with Jones by not getting in her car and not staying in her presence while she talked on the phone. Etienne, upon seeing Jones, could have walked away. More broadly, Etienne could have avoided the predictable encounter with Jones entirely by not travelling to a location down the street from Jones' residence. In Arciniega, the defendant's interactions with fellow convicts were unavoidable because he shared a common employer with the other ex-convicts. By contrast, in the present case, Etienne had no occupational excuse for being in Jones' car and staying near her.

Additionally, Etienne's contact with Jones was not accidental. Quite the opposite: Etienne's contact with

Jones was intentional. Etienne purposefully got inside

Jones' car and chose to remain in her presence. As shown
in Section I, Etienne's conduct was intentional in that he
knew that he could not have contact with Jones but he did
so anyway, and he was aware that his conduct was
practically certain to result in him being in contact with
Jones.

Secondly, the present case does not fall under the scope of Arciniega because it involves a different type of no-contact condition. See 1 Neil P. Cohen, The Law of Probation and Parole § 9.11, at 9-19(2ded.1999)(classifying prohibitions against contact with a particular person as a different type of condition than those against contact with a category of persons.) As stated above, in support of his position, Etienne cites Arciniega, as well as its progeny in the 3rd, 5th, 10th, and D.C. circuits. All of these cases involved conditions prohibiting contact with a category of persons. See Arciniega, 404 U.S. 4 (no contact with ex-convicts); Loy, 237 F.3d 251 (no contact with minors); United States v. Mike, 632 F.3d 686, (10th Cir. N.M. 2011) (no contact with children); United States v.

minors); <u>United States v. Burroughs</u>, 613 F.3d 233 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (no contact with children). In the present case, the prohibition is against contact with a particular person rather than with a category of persons. Hence the main rationale behind the <u>Arciniega</u> rule, that a defendant might be found guilty simply by being present in a crowded public place, is not present.

CONCLUSION

Based on the reasons stated above, the Plaintiff-Respondent requests that the decision of the trial court be affirmed.